

REPUBLIC OF SLOVENIA MINISTRY OF FINANCE

FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION OF THE REPUBLIC OF SLOVENIA

Šmartinska cesta 55, PO Box 631, 1001 Ljubljana, Slovenia

T: +386 1 478 38 00 F: +386 1 478 39 00 E: <u>gfu.fu@gov.si</u> <u>www.fu.gov.si</u>

VALUE ADDED TAX Special arrangement for performing services of international occasional road transport of passengers

Detailed description

5TH version, DECEMBER 2019

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0 SPECIAL ARRANGEMENT FOR PERFORMING SERVICES OF INTERNATIONAL	
OCCASIONAL ROAD TRANSPORT OF PASSENGERS	3
2.0 CONDITIONS FOR APPLICATION OF THE SPECIAL ARRANGEMENT	3
3.0 REPORTING TO THE TAX AUTHORITIES	
3.1 Claims for issuing tax numbers and VAT identification numbers	4
3.2 Certificate of claim receipt	6
3.3 Assigning VAT identification number for application of this special arrangement	6
3.4 Reporting changes of data from the claim to the tax authorities	6
4.0 OBLIGATION FOR REPORTING EACH INDIVIDUAL TRANSPORT ROUTE BEFORE	3
STARTING IT	6
5.0 TAX PERIOD AND SPECIAL VAT RETURN (DDV-O-OP)	6
5.1 Tax period	6
5.2 Special VAT return (DDV-O-OP form)	
5.3 Corrections of the special VAT return	10
6.0 VAT PAYMENT	10
7.0 EXCLUSION FROM THE SPECIAL ARRANGEMENT	10
8.0 KEEPING RECORDS AND STORING	11
9.0 PENAL PROVISIONS	.11

1.0 SPECIAL ARRANGEMENT FOR PERFORMING SERVICES OF INTERNATIONAL OCCASIONAL ROAD TRANSPORT OF PASSENGERS

For the period from 1 April 2015 onwards the special arrangement is introduced for foreign taxable persons, who occasionally perform services of international road transport of passengers in Slovenia.

Taxable persons, who are not established in Slovenia or they don't have permanent establishment nor permanent or usual residence in Slovenia and on the territory of Slovenia they exclusively perform services of occasional international road transport of passengers, at fulfilling of certain conditions they may use the simplified procedure for registration, they settle and pay VAT according to this special arrangement.

This special arrangement may apply only for international occasional road transport of passengers and not also for international regular scheduled road transport of passengers.

Application of the special arrangement is optional for taxable persons, who fulfil conditions for its application.

Communication between taxable persons and the tax authorities will take place via electronic means, i.e. taxable persons will be able to file claims for issuing tax numbers in the electronic form if the numbers have not been assigned to them yet, and identification numbers from 1 March 2015 onwards. Application of this special arrangement will be possible for periods from 1 April 2015 onwards.

2.0 CONDITIONS FOR APPLICATION OF THE SPECIAL ARRANGEMENT

The special arrangement may be used by taxable persons, who are not established in Slovenia or they don't have permanent establishment in Slovenia nor permanent or usual residence (hereinafter: taxable persons) if they fulfil the following conditions:

- a) in Slovenia they occasionally perform services of international road transport of passengers with vehicles, which are not registered in Slovenia;
- b) they don't claim the right to VAT deduction (in accordance with Article 63 of the <u>ZDDV-1</u>) or right to VAT refund (in accordance with Articles 74 to 74.i of the <u>ZDDV-1</u>);
- c) they don't perform any other transactions, which would be subject to VAT in Slovenia.

The occasional road transport of passengers means occasional transport of passengers in the road traffic, as it is defined in the act, which arranges transport in the road traffic. The occasional transport of passengers in the road traffic is transport, which is not considered as public scheduled transport nor as special scheduled transport and at which a group passengers planned in advance is transported under conditions, which are agreed on the basis of the contract between the transport operator and ordering party of the transport.

The international road transport of passengers is the transport of passengers in the road traffic, where the place of departure or arrival of the vehicle is outside Slovenia.

Taxable persons, who fulfil conditions for application of this special arrangement and decide for its application, shall use the special arrangement for at least one tax period, i.e. as a rule one calendar year. This means that if taxable persons decide for application of the special arrangement in the specific calendar year, during the year they cannot transfer from the special arrangement to settling VAT on the basis of general rules, except if they fail to fulfil the conditions for application of the special arrangement (perform other transaction or transactions, which are subject to VAT in Slovenia).

It is defined that application of the special and general arrangements for settling VAT in the same calendar year exclude each other. This means that for one calendar year it is not possible to implement the general and special arrangements, except in cases of the already mentioned situation. If taxable persons decide for application of the special arrangement, they shall use it for the whole calendar year or in cases of cessation of its application until the day of cessation.

In cases of cessation of application of the special arrangement the tax period is shorter, so in this case taxable persons will use the special arrangement until the day of cessation of application of this special arrangement, but they will not be able to use the special arrangement again within the same calendar year (even if later they fulfil conditions for application of the special arrangement).

Also those taxable persons, who are in Slovenia already identified for VAT purposes under the general arrangement for performing these services, but they will decide for application of this special arrangement (so they will not be identified for VAT purposes under the general arrangement anymore), they will have to report its application in advance to the tax authorities. More detailed information about the report to the tax authorities can be found in the following chapters of this document.

3.0 REPORTING TO THE TAX AUTHORITIES

Taxable persons, who perform the international occasional road transport of passengers, shall submit claims for issuing tax numbers to the tax authorities in the electronic form if the numbers have not been assigned to them yet, and claims for issuing identification numbers for VAT before they start performing services of the international occasional road transport of passengers in Slovenia.

3.1 Claims for issuing tax numbers and VAT identification numbers

Taxable persons will be able to submit claims for issuing tax numbers and identification numbers for VAT purposes to the tax authorities from 1 March 2015 onwards in the electronic form, i.e. to the special e-mail address <u>kc-potnik.fu@gov.si</u>, which will be available to taxable persons from 1 March 2015 onwards.

With claims for issuing tax numbers and identification numbers for VAT purposes taxable persons shall enclose also the statement that they don't perform transactions within the Union or other supplies of goods and services, which are subject to taxation in Slovenia, for which they will have to identify for VAT purposes in accordance with Article 79 of the <u>ZDDV-1</u> (hereinafter: statement). The form for submission of the statement is not prescribed, but for these purposes the following form is prepared <u>Statement on the basis of Article 137.b Paragraph 3 of the ZDDV-1</u>.

Claims for issuing tax numbers and identification numbers for VAT together with the statement are submitted by taxable persons to the tax authorities:

1. Taxable persons, who in Slovenia still don't have tax numbers nor VAT identification numbers assigned, submit to the tax authorities (to the e-mail address <u>kc-potnik.fu@gov.si</u>):

a) for assignment of the tax number:

- <u>DR-04 Form</u> for foreign companies, performing occasional international road transport of passengers in Slovenia;
- <u>DR-02</u> Form for legal representative, authorised for representing the company and founders, partners and/or members of the company mentioned above;
- Copy of the personal identity document of founders and of responsible persons authorized for representation;

- Copy of certificate about registration in the country of origin (translated by court interpreters or registered translators) that demonstrates economic activity in the country of origin;
- A document showing information about the account open abroad, e.g. a contract on opening a bank account, a printout of the bank abroad or a bank certificate showing, in addition to the account number, the BIC or SWIFT code and address of the bank.

b) for assignment of the identification number for VAT:

- <u>DDV-P3 form</u> The note for DDV-P3 form: in DDV-P3 form taxable persons fill in the prescribed data at taking into consideration the fact that for application of this special arrangement:
 - In Section I General data: field 01-tax number in Slovenia is not filled in because the tax number is assigned on the basis of DR04 form;
 - In Section II Business activities: occasional international road transport of passengers they are classified into the code of business activities: 49.391 Interurban and other types of road passenger traffic;
 - In Section III Data about the tax representative: for application of the special arrangement for occasional international road transport of passengers appointing tax representatives is not obligatory;
 - In Section IV Other data: for application of the special arrangement for occasional international road transport of passengers they select field 23: Special arrangement

 international occasional road transport of passengers (evidence in the annex/attachment).

2. If taxable persons in Slovenia already have the assigned tax number, but they don't have yet the assigned VAT identification number in Slovenia, they submit to the tax authorities (to the e-mail address <u>kc-potnik.fu@gov.si</u>):

<u>DDV-P3 form</u>. Note to DDV-P3 form: in DDV-P3 form taxable persons fill in the prescribed data, at taking into consideration the fact that for the application of this special arrangement:

- In Section I General data: field 01-tax number in Slovenia the Slovene tax number is stated;
- In Sections II, III and IV notes to this form are taken into consideration, as it is stated under Item 1.

3. If taxable persons in Slovenia are already identified for VAT purposes (according to the general arrangement) and on the territory of Slovenia they perform exclusively services of occasional international road transport of passengers and they decide for application of this special arrangement, they submit claims to the tax authorities so that:

- in eDavki system they file <u>DDV-P3 form</u> for application of the special arrangement for occasional international road transport of passengers, in which they state the date of beginning of application of this special arrangement. Also at filling in DDV-P3 Form notes for this form are taken into consideration, stated under item 2,
- at the same time they submit also the statement in eDavki system <u>Statement on the</u> basis of Article 137.b Paragraph 3 of the ZDDV-1 as annex to the document.

We assume that taxable persons who are already identified for VAT purposes in Slovenia submit claims and forms in eDavki system also at any other time. If such taxable persons are not able to access eDavki system, they may submit the above-mentioned forms to the tax authorities to the following e-mail address <u>kc-potnik.fu@gov.si</u>.

3.2 Certificate of claim receipt

At claim receipt the tax authorities send to taxable persons in the electronic form (to the e-mail address of taxable persons) the certificate of claim receipt (in the form of the electronic message), in which the basic data from the claim are stated, on the basis of which taxable persons may perform transport.

At performing occasional transport of passengers taxable persons shall have a tax authorities' certificate in the vehicle that they have submitted claims for issuing VAT identification numbers, which are later replaced by the received certificate or certificate copy on identification for VAT purposes.

3.3 Assigning VAT identification number for application of this special arrangement

The tax authorities inform taxable persons, who have submitted claims and fulfil conditions for application of the special arrangement, about the assigned identification numbers for VAT in the electronic form in 8 days after receipt of the complete claim (decision on identification for VAT purposes for application of this special arrangement for occasional international road transport of passengers or certificate on identification for application of this special arrangement).

It is considered that notices on the assigned VAT identification number are delivered on the 8th day after sending the certificate to the e-mail address of the taxable person.

After identification numbers for VAT are assigned, at performing occasional transport of passengers taxable persons shall have certificates in the vehicle or copies of certificate that they are identified for VAT purposes.

3.4 Reporting changes of data from the claim to the tax authorities

Taxable persons shall report to the tax authorities also any change of data from the claim, i.e. in 8 days from the day when such changes occurred. Changes are reported to the following e-mail address <u>kc-potnik.fu@gov.si</u>.

4.0 OBLIGATION FOR REPORTING EACH INDIVIDUAL TRANSPORT ROUTE BEFORE STARTING IT

Before every performing of transport in Slovenia taxable persons shall report this in the electronic form to the tax authorities and the following items are included in the report:

- Their VAT identification number
- Registration number of the vehicle
- Date of performing transport on the territory of the Republic of Slovenia and
- Planned transport route on the territory of the Republic of Slovenia

The taxable person notifies the tax authority of the above-mentioned data (from 13. 7. 2018 onwards) via the portal Special arrangement for performing services of international occasional road passenger transport in eDavki (eTaxes) online application. The taxable person receives data for accessing the application (username and password) after registration and assigning VAT identification number.

In case of application failure the taxable person notifies the tax authority of the abovementioned data on <u>Reporting transport</u> (Word) to the electronic address <u>kc-potnik.fu@gov.si</u>

5.0 TAX PERIOD AND SPECIAL VAT RETURN (DDV-O-OP)

5.1 Tax period

The tax period is the calendar year.

At cessation of application of the special arrangement the tax period ends on the day of cessation of application of this special arrangement.

5.2 Special VAT return (DDV-O-OP form)

Taxable persons shall submit special VAT return on <u>the form for DDV-O-OP return</u> to the tax authority (from 3. 1. 2019 onwards) via portal Special arrangement for performing services of international occasional road transport of passengers in eDavki web application. Detailed information in relation to accessing the above-mentioned portal can be found under point 4.0 of this detailed description. In connection with possible information related to arrangement of rights, taxable persons may contact <u>kc-potnik.fu@gov.si</u>.

The special VAT return shall include:

- 1. VAT identification number (3.3 item);
- 2. Registration number of the vehicle and the number of persons transported by this vehicle and the date of performing transport;
- 3. Value of the service performed on the territory of Slovenia according to individual vehicle without VAT;
- 4. VAT rate;
- 5. The total value of performed services on the territory of Slovenia in the tax period;
- 6. The total amount of VAT in the tax period (obligation for VAT payment).

Taxable persons shall submit special VAT returns to the tax authorities until the last working day of the month following the expiry of the tax period in the electronic form.

Case 1:

Taxable persons shall submit <u>DDV-O-OP form</u> returns for the period from 1 April 2015 to 31 December 2015 to the tax authorities until 29 January 2016.

Case 2: DDV-O-OP return for the period from 1. 1. 2018 to 31. 12. 2018 (for 2018) shall be submitted by taxable persons via portal Special arrangement for performing services of international occasional road transport of passengers in eDavki web application by 31. 1. 2019. The 2018 period will be displayed in eDavki application on drop-down menu of periods.

Up to the time limit for submission, taxable persons may correct the already submitted DDV-O-OP return via portal Special arrangement for performing services of international occasional road transport of passengers in eDavki web application. If taxable persons have already submitted DDV-O-OP return and the time limit for submission of DDV-O-OP return has already expired, they may submit the correction of return to <u>kc-potnik.fu@gov.si</u> (in this case the period of 2018 in eDavki application will not be available anymore, there will be a notice related to the above-mentioned possibility of submitting the correction).

Prepopulation of data in **DDV-O-OP return**

The prepopulation of data in DDV-O-OP return in B Section – Taxable services shall be made for the tax period from including 2019 onwards for DDV-O-OP returns on the basis of data entered by the taxable person in Transport announcements (see point 4 of this detailed description).

Prepopulated data in B Section of DDV-O-OP returns shall be prepared on the basis of transport announcements submitted by taxable persons (who have entered them in Transport announcements), so before submission of DDV-O-OP returns taxable persons shall check if the prepopulated DDV-O-OP return includes data about all cases of road passenger transport that were actually performed in this tax period on the territory of Slovenia (a proportional part of the

distance travelled on the territory of Slovenia) and if the prepopulated data on performed transport are accurate.

The procedure for submission of <u>DDV-O-OP return in eDavki (eTaxes) web application</u> <u>If you click the »Next« button before going to DDV-O-OP form, the data entered in Transport</u> announcements are prepopulated in B Section – **Taxable service**.

	VAT return for speci	ial arrangement for performing services for international occasional road transport of passengers
	Select the period from the dropdo	own menu for which you would like to complete the form and click Next.
(Period selection Pre-fill in from the last filed d Next	2019 ✔ Jocument (if it exists)



If it is established that prepopulated data in B Section – Taxable service are not accurate, they shall be appropriately corrected in DDV-O-OP return:

- If the transport announcement has not been submitted, the data on actually performed transport have to be added (by clicking »Add line« button).

Total	
Picture 2	

- If transport is stated in the return, for which the announcement has been submitted, but transport has actually not been performed, the value of EUR 0.00 shall be entered in »Value of the service without VAT« field.

		,			,	nother tax period, it shall be deleted during	,,
Taxat	ble service (in EUR and cents)						
No.	Date of performing transport from	Date of performing transport to	Reg. number of the vehicle	No. of persons transported	VAT rate %	Value of the service without VAT	
1	19/08/2019	19/08/2019	RV123BB	21	9.50 🗸	290.00	×
2	12/08/2019	12/08/2019	RV123BB	22	9.50 🗸	290.00	×
3	06/07/2019	17/07/2019	RV123BB	26	9.50 🗸	0.00	×
4	15/02/2019	15/02/2019	RV123BB	44	9.50 🗸	225.00	×
5	08/02/2019	08/02/2019	RV123BB	44	9.50 -	190.00	×

Picture 3

- If transport has actually been performed in another tax period, it shall be deleted (by clicking »X« at the end of the line) in the period for which the return is submitted.

4	15/02/2019	15/02/2019	RV123BB	44	9.50 🗸	225.00	$\left(\times \right)$
Picture 4							

If you click »Calculate«, the corrected data are saved.

Taxab	ble service (in EUR and cents)						
No.	Date of performing transport from	Date of performing transport to	Reg. number of the vehicle	No. of persons transported	VAT rate %	Value of the service without VAT	
1	19/08/2019	19/08/2019	RV123BB	21	9.50 🗸	290.00	×
2	12/08/2019	12/08/2019	RV123BB	22	9.50 🗸	290.00	×
3	06/07/2019	17/07/2019	RV123BB	26	9.50 🗸	0.00	×
4	15/02/2019	15/02/2019	RV123BB	44	9.50 🗸	225.00	×
5	08/02/2019	08/02/2019	RV123BB	44	9.50 🗸	190.00	×
Total							⊕ Add lin
Calcu	lation of VAT (in EUR without cents)						
Tax b	Fax base						
Total VAT obligation for payment							

Picture 5

The taxable person shall complete the fields: »Telephone« and »E-mail address« and submit DDV-O-OP return by clicking »Submit application« button and copying the security code.

Name of the taxable person Headquarters VAT identification number in the Republic of Slovenia Full name of the person who has completed this form Felephone F-mail address	VAT return for special arrangen 2019	nent for performing services for international occasional road transport of passengers for p
Name of the taxable person Headquarters VAT identification number in the Republic of Slovenia Full name of the person who has completed this form Felephone E-mail address VAT identification number of the tax representative	Special arrangement for performing se	rvices for international occasional road transport of passengers
Headquarters VAT identification number in the Republic of Slovenia Full name of the person who has completed this form Telephone E-mail address VAT identification number of the tax representative	General data	
VAT identification number in the Republic of Slovenia Full name of the person who has completed this form Telephone E-mail address VAT identification number of the tax representative	Name of the taxable person	
Full name of the person who has completed this form Telephone E-mail address VAT identification number of the tax representative	Headquarters	
Telephone E-mail address VAT identification number of the tax representative		
E-mail address VAT identification number of the tax representative	Full name of the person who has completed this form	
	Telephone E-mail address	
□ Return □ Correction □ Self-declaration	VAT identification number of the tax representative	
		Return Correction Self-declaration

Picture 6

Intern	al attachments				
Id	Filename	Attachment type	Description	Hash value (SHA-1 hash)	
Sele	ct file Evidence	✓ Select type or en	tter 'Description' field.	achment	
	Submit application				
	Save temporarily Export Cancel				

Picture 7

If 0 amount is entered in an individual line, an alert shall appear that the accuracy of entry shall be verified although DDV-O-OP return may be filed despite the alert by clicking »Continue« button.

- 11	VAT return for special arrangement for performing services for international occasional road transport of passengers for period 2019
	Special arrangement for performing services for international occasional road transport of passengers
	▲ Non critical contextual errors
	The submission deadline is '31/01/2020'. The row have values of 0. Check the correct entry (line 3).
	Document with contextual errors can be filed by choosing the option Continue. Continue

Picture 8

When you copy the security code and click »Sign« button, DDV-O-OP return is successfully filed

Sign
Sign document
Check document data, type in security code, and click the confirmation button to sign the document.
Type in security code
Submission of application
By clicking "Sign", the document will be signed and submitted to Financial Administration. Once the document has been filed, you can no longer modify it.
Picture 9

Signing the document			
 You have successfully filed the document. 			
Document overview			
Picture 10			

5.3 Corrections of the special VAT return

Provisions of the act, which arranges the tax procedure, apply for corrections of the special VAT return and not provisions of Article 88.b of the <u>ZDDV-1</u>.

The submission of correction of special DDV-O-OP return is explained under point 5.2 of this detailed description (see Case 2).

6.0 VAT PAYMENT

On the performed services of international occasional road transport of passengers in Slovenia (proportional part of the transport rate for the route on the territory of Slovenia) VAT is settled at a lower rate of 9.5 %.

Taxable persons shall pay VAT into the state budget at the latest within the time limit, in which they shall submit special VAT returns.

On the basis of DDV-O-OP returns VAT is paid to the suspense tax subaccount – budget of the state SI56011008881000030 and the reference is SI19 DŠ-62006.

BANK OF SLOVENIA SWIFT: BSLJSI2X IBAN: SI5656011008881000030

7.0 EXCLUSION FROM THE SPECIAL ARRANGEMENT

The tax authorities exclude taxable persons from the special arrangement if:

- a) they inform the tax authorities about cessation of performing services of international occasional road transport of passengers;
- b) they fail to fulfil conditions, defined for application of this special arrangement;
- c) they fail to submit the special VAT return (<u>DDV-O-OP form</u>);
- d) they fail to report changes of data;
- e) they fail to present all required data on special VAT returns (DDV-O-OP).

The tax authorities send decisions on exclusion from the special arrangement to taxable persons to their e-mail addresses.

8.0 KEEPING RECORDS AND STORING

Taxable persons shall keep records on performed services according to this special arrangement, in which they shall provide all data, on the basis of which the tax authorities may perform supervision over accuracy of the special VAT return, especially data about each individual transport route, registration number of the vehicle on this route, number of passengers, value of the service performed and amount of tax.

Records shall be available in the electronic form and taxable persons shall provide records to the tax authorities upon their request.

Taxable persons shall keep invoices, from which the following items are evident: subject to taxation, tax base and VAT and other documents, which enable preparation of the special VAT return.

Taxable persons shall keep invoices and other documents 10 years after expiry of the year, to which invoices and other documents and records refer.

9.0 PENAL PROVISIONS

On the basis of provisions from the ZDDV-1 taxable persons, who apply this special arrangement, and their responsible persons shall be fined for an offence if they fail to:

- submit special VAT returns for performing services of international occasional road transport of passengers or they fail to submit them in the prescribed method or the submitted special returns don't include the prescribed data;
- submit claims for issuing VAT identification numbers or they fail to submit them in the prescribed method or the submitted claims don't include the prescribed data;
- report changes of data;
- inform the tax authorities about the planned performing of transport;
- pay VAT on services of international road transport of passengers in the prescribed time limit or in the prescribed method;
- keep records on services according to the special arrangement for performing services of international occasional road transport of passengers or they fail to provide storing of documentation within the prescribed time limit.